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. UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT. 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES 
TRADING COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 
DEEPAK SINGHAL AND 
MEERA SINGHAL, 

Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) Civil Action No. 1:12-cv-00138 
) Judge Amy J. St. Eve 
) Maj. Judge Geraldine Soat Brown 
) 
) 

CONSENT ORDER FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION, 
CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF AGAINST 

DEFENDANTS DEEPAK SINGHAL AND MEERA SINGHAL 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On January 9, 2012, Plaintiff Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("Commissi<:m, 

or "CFTC") filed a Complaint against Defendants Deepak Singhal and Meera Singhal 

(collectively, "Defendants") seeking injunctive and other equitable relief,. as well as the 

imposition of civil penalties, for violations of Section 4c(a)(2)(A)(ii) of the Commodity 

Exchange Act ("Act"), 7 U.S.C. § 6c(a)(2)(A)(ii) (2006), as amended by the Food, Conservation, 
0 0 

and Energy Act of2.008, Pub. L. No. 110-246, Title XIII (the CFTC Reauthorization Act of 

2008), §§ 13101-13204, 122 Stat. 1.651) (enacted June 18, 2008), and Commission Regulation 

("Regulation") 1.38(a), 17 C.F.R. § 1.38(a) (201 0). The Commission entered into a Consent 

Order of Preliminary Injunction with the Defendants on February 21, 2012. 
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II. CONSENTS AND AGREEMENTS 

To effect settlement of all charges alleged in the Complaint against Defendants Deepak 

Singhal and Meera Singhal, without a trial on the merits or any further judicial proceedings, 

Defendants Deepak Singhal and Meera Singhal: 

1. Consent to the entry of this Consent Order for Permanent Injunction, Civil 

Monetary Penalty and Other Equitable Relief Against Defendants Deepak Singhal and Meera 

Singhal ("Consent Order"); 

2. Affirm that they have read and agt·eed to this Consent Order voluntarily, and that 

no promise, other than as specifically contained herein, or threat, has been made by the 

Commission or any member, officet·, agent or representative thereof, or by any other person, to 

induce consent to this Consent Order; · 

3. Acknowledge service of the summons and Complaint; 

4. Admit the jurisdiction of this CoUt't over them and the subject matter of this action 

pursuant to Section 6c of the Act, as amended, 7 U.S ,C. § 13a" I; 

5. Admit thejuri~diction ofthe Commission over th~ conduct and tt·ansactions at 

issue in this action pUl'suant to the Act, 7 U,S,C, §§ 1, et seq.; 

6. Admit that venue properly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6c(e) of the 

Act, as amended, 7 U.S.C. § 13a"l(e); 
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7. Waive: 

(a) any and all claims that they may possess under the Equal Access to Justice 
. . . 

Act, 5 U.S.C. § 504 (2006) and 28 U.S.C. § 2412 (2006), and/or th~ t•ules promulgated by the 

Commission in conformity therewith, Patt 148 of the Regulations, 17 C.F.R. §§ 148, I et seq. 

(2012), relating to, or arising fwm, this action; 

(b) any and all claims that they may possess under the Small Business Regulatory 

Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 104-121, §§ 201-253, 110 Stat. 847,857-868 

(1996), as amended by Pub. L. No. 110-28, § 8302, 121 Stat. 112, 204-205 (2007), relating to, or 

arising from, this action; 

(c) any claim of Double Jeopardy based upon the institution of this action or the 

entry in this action of any order imposing a civil monetary penalty or any other relief, including 

this Consent Order; and 

(d) any and all rights of appeal from this action; 

8. Consent to the continued jurisdiction of this Court over them for the purpose of 

implementing and enforcing the terms and conditions of this Consent Order and for any othet• 

purpose relevant to this action, even if Defendants now or in the future t•eside outside the 

jurisdiction of this Court; 

9, Agree that they will not oppose enforcement of this Consent Order by alleging 

that it fails to comply with Rule 65(d) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and waives any 

objection based thereon; 

1 0. Agree that neither they nor any of their. agents or employees under their authority 

or contl'Ol shall take any action or make any public' statement denying, dit·ectly ot· indirectly, any 

allegation in the Complaint or the Findings of Fact or C~nclusions of Law in this Consent Order, 
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or qreating or tending to create the.impression that the Complaint and/or this Consent Order is 

without a factual basis; provided, however, that nothing in this provision shall affect their: (a) 

testimonial obligations, or (b) right to take legal positions in other proceedings to which the 

Commission is not a patty. Defendants shall undertake all steps necessary to ensure that all of 

their agents and/or employees under their authol'ity or contl'Ol understand and comply with this 

agt·eement; 

11. By consenting to the entt·y of this Consent Order, neither admit nor deny the 

allegations of the Complaint or the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in this Consent 

. Order, except as to jurisdiction and venue, which they admit. Fmthet·, Defendants agree and 

intend that the allegations contained in the Complaint and all of the Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law contained in this Consent Order shall be taken as true and correct and be 

given preclusive effect, without further proof,. in the course of: (a) any current or subsequent 

bankruptcy proceeding filed by, on behalf of, or against Defendants; (b) any proceeding pursuant 

to Section 8a of the Act, as amended, 7 U.S.C. § 12a, anq/ot• Patt 3 of the Regulations, 17 C.P.R. . . 

§§ 3.1 et seq. (2012); and/or (c) any proceeding to enforce the terms of this Consent Order; 

12. Agree to provide immediate notice to this Court and the Commission by certified 

mail, in the manner required by paragraph 71 ofPatt VI ofthis Consent Ot·der, of any 

bankruptcy proceeding filed by, on behalf of, or against them, whether inside or outside the 

United States; and 

13. · Agree that no provision of this Consent Ot·der shall in any way limit or impair the 

ability of any other person or entity to seek any legal or equitable remedy against Defendants in 

any other proceeding. 
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III. FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

The Court, being fully advised in the premises, finds that there is good cause for the enti·y 

of this Consent Order and that there is no just reason for delay. The Court therefore directs the 

entry ofthe.followingFindings ofFact, Conclusions ofLaw, permanent injunction and equitable 

relief pursuant to Section 6c of the Act, as amended, 7 U,S,C, § 13a-1, as set forth herein. 

THE PARTIES AGREE AND THE COURT HEREBY FINDS: 

A. Findings of Fact 

1. The Parties To This Consent 01·der 

14. Plaintiff Commodity Futures Trading Commission is an independent federal 

regulatory agency that is charged by Congress with administering and enforcing the Act, as 

amended, 7 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq., and the·Regulatiorts promulgated thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.1 et 

seq. (2012). 

15. Defendant Deepak Singhal, upon information and belief, is a citizen of the 

Republic of India ("India"). He cul'!'ently resides in Bangalore, K~mataka, India. He has never 

been registered with the Commission in any capacity. 

16. Defendant Meera Singhal, Deepak Singhal's mother, upon information and belief, 

is a citizen oflndia. She cut·t•ently resides in Bangalore, Karnataka, India. She has never been 

registered with the Commission in any capacity. 

2. Defendants' Trading Sch.eme 

17. Deepak Singha.l is a futures and options trader. He opened an account (the "OS 

Account") at Interactive Brokers, LLC ("Interactive Brokers"), a Futures Cort:~mission Merchant 

("FCM"), and obtained a unique password to access that account sometime between June 9, 2008 

and June 13, 2008, Deepak Singhal is thy only individual authorized to trade the OS Account. 
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18. Meera Singhal allowed Deepak Singhal to open a trading account under he1; name 

(the "MS Account"), at Interactive Bl'Okers, using information and materials supplied by her. 

Deepak Singhal pommenced the application process on behalf of Meera Singhal, to open a 

futures and options trading account at Intemctive Brokers on December 2, 20 I 0, via the Intemet. 

Dul'ing the course of the application process, Interactive Broket·s received, via email, a copy of 

Meera Singhal's Government of India Income Tax Department identification card, as well as a . 

copy of the front and back portions of her passport. At the end of the application process a 

unique password was assigned to Meera Singhal that would allow her to access the MS Account. 

The MS account was first funded on December 6, 2010, through an electronic tt·ansfer fl'Om 

Meera Sitighal's bank account at Citibank FSB. The amount deposited was $20,000. The ftt·st 

trade executed in the MS Account occul'l'ed on December 13,2010. In late March 201 I, all 

funds in the MS Account at Intet·active Brokers were withdrawn and then transferred to Meera 

Singhal's bank account at Citibank FSB. The amount of funds withdrawn from the MS Account 

was $52,507. Meera Singhal was the only individual authmized by Intet•active Brokers to tmde 

the MS Account. During the Relevant Period, Deepak Singhal traded the DS Account. 

19. During the Relevant Period, Meera Singhal allowed her account, the MS Account,. 

to be traded by Deepak Singhal. Meera Singhal's conduct in this matter is limited to allowing 

her son to trade her account. During the Relevant period, a series of foreign currency options 

transactions, executed on Globex, took place between the DS and MS Accounts. The 

transactions between the DS and MS Accounts involved several types offoreign cutTency 

options, including the following: 

(1) the Eul'O/U.S. Dollar Emopean Style Premium Call Options Contract; 

(2) the British Pound/U.S, Dollar American Style Premium Call Options Contt•act; 
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(3) the Japanese Yen/U.S, Dollar American Style Premium Call Options Contract; 

(4) the Japanese Yen/U.S. Dollar American Style Premium Put Options Contmct; 

(5) the British Pound/U.S. Dollar American Style Premium Put Options Contract; and 

(6) the Euro/U.S. Dollar Eul'Opean Style Pt·emium Put Options Contt·act. 
. . 

20. During the Relevant Period, Deepak Singhal intentionally made non-competitive, 

fictitious sales between the DS and MS Accounts, whereby the MS Account virtually always 

profited. Specifically, during times of low market volume, Deepak Singhal intentionally made 

nonwcompetitive, fictitious sales by placing virtually simultaneous ordet'S to buy in the MS 

Account and orders to sell in the DS Account, or conversely, placing virtually simultaneous 

orders to buy in the DS Account and orders to sell in the MS Account. Moreover, during the 

Relevant Pel'iod, the non-competitive, fictitious sales bet~een the DS and MS Accounts often 

emanated from the exact same IP address in Bangalore, India. 

3. Defendants' Fictitious, Non"Competitive Euro Call Options Transactions 

21. Th~ Eul'O/U,S. Dollar European Style Premium Call Options Contract, tt·aded on 

the CME, is a ·fo1·eign currency option for the l'ight to buy one 125,000€ futures contract at the 

stl'ike price and expiration date specified in the contract (the "Eul'O Call Option"). 

22. On Decembet· 19,2010 between 10:02 p.m. and 10:07 p.m., Deepak Singhal 

entered o.rders to buy 25 Euro Call Options in the MS Account, while also entering orders to sell 

25 Buro Call Options in the DS Account, trading opposite the MS Account, resulting in the 

execution of the following Euro Call Options transactions, with a stl'ilce price.of $1.30_per Euro 

and a January 2011 expiration month (the "1.30 Eul'O Call Option transactions"), on CME: 

1@.0234, 1@.0214, 1@.0202, 1@.0194, 1@.0164, 1@.0134, 5@.0116, 5@.0102, 5@.0080, and 

4@.0084. 
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23. On December21, 2010 between 3:49a.m. and 8:42p.m., Deepak Singhal 

reversed the December 19, 2010, 1.30 Euro Call Option transactions by entering orders to sell 

25, 1.30 Euro Call Options in the MS Account while also entering orders to buy 25 of the 1.30 

Euro Call Options in the DS Account, opposite the MS· Account, resulting in the execution of the 

following 1.30 Euro Call Options transactions: 3@.0245, 5@.0244, 3@.0250, 3@.0260, 

1@.0190, 1@.0210, 4@.0230, 4@.0250, and 1@.0260. 

24. This series of tt·ansactions resulted in a tmnsfer of funds, or money pass, from the 

DS Account to the MS Account in the amount of $38,712.50. 

25. Defendant Deepak Singhal intentio~ally executed these pat·allel orders to buy and 

sell during periods of low ovet·all volume with the purpose of having the opposite orders find and 

match each other on Globex. Defendant Deepak Singhal executed these transactions by entering, 

or causing the entry of, the orders to buy and sell the 1.30 Euro Call Options. 

26. On December 19,2010 and December 21,2010, Defendants' 1.30 Eut·o Call 

Option transactions represented 100% of the total daily CME trading volume of the 1.30 Euro 

Call Option. 

4. Defendants, Fictitious, Non-Competitive British Pound Call Options 
Transactions 

27. The British Pound/U.S. Dollar Amel'ican Style Premium Call Options Contract, 

tl'aded on the CME, is a foreign currency option for the right to buy one 62,500£ futures contt·act 

at the stt•ike price and expiration date sp~cifled in the contract (the "British Pound Call Option"). 

28. On December 22,2010 between 6:43p.m. and 6:54p.m., Deepak Singhal entered 

orders to buy 19 British Pound Call Options in the MS Account, while also entering orders to sell 

19 ~ritish Pound Call Options in the DS Account, trading opposite the MS Account, resulting in 

the execution of the following British Pound Call Options transactions, with a strike price of 
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$1.53 per Pound and a January 201 I expiration month (the "1.53 British Pound Call Option 

transactions,), on CME: 1@.0133, 1@.0113, 1@.0103, 1@.0093, and 15@.0093. 

29. On December 26,2010 between 7:10p.m. and 7:11p.m., Deepak Singhal 

reversed the December 22, 2010, 1.53 British Pound Call Option transacti<.ms by entering orders 

to sell 19, 1.53 Bl'itish Pound Call Options in the MS Account while also entering m·ders to buy 

19 of the 1.53 British Pound Call Options in the DS Account, opposite the MS Account, 

resulting in the execution of the following 1.53 British Pouri'd Call Options tt·ansactions: 

4@.0161, 5@.0176, 5@.0191, and 5@.0206. 

30. This sel'ies of transactions resulted in a transfer of funds from the DS Account to 

the MS Account in the amount of$10,450. 

31. Defendant Deepak Singhal intentionally executed these parallel orders to buy and 

sell during periods of low overall volume with the purpose of having the opposite ot·d~t·s find and 

match each other on Olobex. Defendant Deepak Singhal executed these transactions by entering, 

or causing the entry of, the orders to buy and sell the 1.53 British Pound Cal.l Options. · 

32. On December 22, 2010 and December 26, 201 0, Defendants' .1.53 British Pound 

Call Option tmnsactions represented 1 00% and 90%, respectively, of the total daily CME tt·ading 

volume ofthe 1.53 Bl'itish Pound Call Option. 

33. In a second set oftt·ansactions involving the British Pound Call Options, on 

December 22, 2010 between 6:50p.m. and 6:52p.m., Deepak Singhal entered orders to buy 62 

British Pound Call Options in the MS Account, while also entel'ing ordet·s to sell 62 British 

Po.und Call Options in the DS Account, trading opposite the MS Account, t·esulting in the 

execution of the following British Pound Call Options transaction~, with a strike price of $1.54 
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per Pound and a January 2011 expiration month (the "1 .54 British Pound Call Option 

transactions"), on CME: 1@.0098, 1@.0088, 10@.0078, 10@.0068, 20@.0058, and 20@.0051. 

34. On December 27,2010 between 5:34p.m. and 6:17p.m., Deepak Singhal· 

reversed the December 22, 2010, 1.54 British Pound Call Option tt·ansactions by entel'ing orders 

to sell 62, 1.54 British Pound Call Options in the MS Account while also entet·ing orders to buy 

62 ofthe 1.54 British Pound Call Options in the DS Account, opposite the MS Account, 

resulting in the execution of the following 1 ,54 British Pound Call Options transactions: 

8@.0111, 8@.0121, 10@.0116, 20@.0116, 8@.0131, and 8@.0141. 

35. This series of transactions resulted in a transfer of funds from the DS Account to 

the MS Account in the amount of$23,037.50. 

36. Defendant Deepak Singhal intentionally executed these parallel orders to buy and 

sell during periods of low ovet·all volum,e with the purpose of having the opposite orders find and 

match each othet· on Globex. Deepak Singhal executed these transactions by entering, or causing 

the enh'Y of, the orders to buy and sell the 1 .54 British Pound Call Options. 

37. On December 22, 20.10 and December 27, 2010, Defendants' 1.54 British Pound 

Call Option transactions represented 98% and 91%, t·espectively, of the total daily CME tt·ading 

volume of the 1.54 British Pound Call Option. 

5, Defendants' Fictitious, Non~Competitive Japanese Yen Call Options 
Transactions 

38, The Japanese Yen/U.S. Dollar American Style Premium Call Options Contt·act, 

traded on CME, is a foreign currency option for the i-ight to buy one 12,500,000¥ futures contract 

at the strike price and expiration date specified in the contract (the "Yen Call Option"). 

39. On Decembet• 28,2010 between 7:25p.m. and 7:27p.m., Deepak Singhal entered 

orders to buy 3 Yen Call Options in the MS Account, while also entering orders to sell 3 Yen 
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Call Options in the DS Account, trading opposite the MS Account, resulting in the execution of 

the following Yen Call Options transactions, with a strike price of$0.0121 per Yen and a 

January 2011 exph·ation month (the "O.OI2I Yen Call Option transactions"), on CME: 

1@.000104, 1@.000094, and 1@.000074. 

40. On December 29,2010 between 5:59p.m. and 6:00p.m., Deepak Singhal 

reversed the December 28,2010, 0.0121 Yen Call Option transactions by entering orders to sell 

3, 0.0121 Yen Call Options in the MS Account while also entering orders to buy 3 of the 0.0121 

Yen Call Options in the DS Account, opposite the MS Account, t·esulting in the execution of the 

following 0.0121 Yen Call Options transactions: 3@.000187. 

41. This series of transactions resulted in a transfer of funds from the DS Account to 

the MS Account in the amount of$3,612.50. 

42. Defendant Deepak Singhal intentionally executed these parallel orders to buy and 

sell during periods of low overall volume with the purpose of having the opposite orders find and 

match each other on Globex. Defendant Deeepak Singhal executed these transactions by 

entering, or causing the entry of, the orders to buy and sell the 0.0121 Yen Call Options. 

43. On December 28,2010 and December 29,2010, Defendants' 0.0121 Yen Call 

Option transactions represented 38% and 75%, respectively, of the total daily CME trading 

volume ofthe 0.0121 Yen Call Option. 

6. Defendants' Fictitious, Non-Competitive Japanese Yen Put Options 
Transactions 

44. The Japanese Yen/U.S, Dollar American Style Pt•emium Put Options Contract, 

tt·aded on CME, is a foreign cut·rency option for the right to sell one 12,500,000¥ futures contract 

at the strike price and expiration date specified in the contract (the "Yen Put Option"). 
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45. On December 27,2010 between 6:12p.m. and 6:16p.m., Deepak Singhal entered 

orders to buy 29 Yen Put Options in the MS Account, while also entering orders to sel129 Yen 

Put Options in the DS Account, trading opposite the MS Account, resulting in the execution of 

the following Yen Put Options transactions, with a strike price of$0.0121 per Yen and a January 

2011 exph·ation month (the "0.0121 Yen Put Option transactions,), on CME: 1@.000094, 

1@.000084, 1@.000074, 1@.000064, and 25@.000054. 

46. On December 28,2010 between 6:08p.m. and 6:09p.m. and on December 29, 

2010 at 6:01p.m., Deepak Singhal reversed the December 27,2010,0.0121 Yen Put Option 

transactions by entering orders to sell29, 0.0121 Yen Put Options in the MS Account while also 

entering orders to buy 29 ofthe 0.0121 Yen Put Options in the DS Account, opposite the MS 

Account, resulting in the execution of the following 0.0121 Yen Put Options transactions: 

1@.000074, 7@.000084, 7@.000094, 6@.000104, and 8@.000037. 

47. This series of transactions resulted in a transfer of funds from the DS Account to 

the MS Account in the amount of $7,175. 

48. Defendant Deepal( Singhal intentionally executed these parallel orders to buy and 

sell during .pel'iods of low overall voh1me with the purpose of having the opposite orders find and 

match each other on Globex. Defendant Deepak Singhal executed these transactions by entering, 

or causing the entry of, the orders to buy and sell the0.0121 Yen Put Options. 

49. On December 27,28 and 29,2010, Defendants' 0.0121 Yen Put Options 

transactions represented 38%, 58%, and 20%, respectively, of the total daily CME trading 

volume of the 0.0121 Yen PtJt Option. 
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7. Summary of Defendants' Fictitious, Non-Competitive Trading Scheme 

50. During the Relevant Period, Defendants repeated their non-competitive, fictitious 

sales at least 83 times, resulting in the illegal trading of, at least, 424 foreign cul'l'ency options, 

51. Defendants' fictitious, non-competitive, fictitious sales involved, at least, eight 

types of foreign cul'l'ency options, inclt1ding (1) the Euro Call Option, (2) the British Pound Call 

Option, (3) the Yen Call Option, and (4) the Yen Put Option, as described above. 

52. In December 201 0, in terms of tt·ading volume, greater than 94% of the total 

foreign cut•rency options tt·ades in the DS Account, including the non-competitive, fictitious 

sales, were traded opposite the MS Account. Similarly, approximately 77% of the total foreign 

currency options trades in the MS Account, including the non-competitive, fictitious sales, were 

traded opposite the DS Account. 

53. The CME's rules specifically prohibit Defendants fl'Om executing tt·ades in the 

manner descl'ibed in this Complaint. 

54. In totem, through this unlawful practice, the Defendants transferred, or aided and 

abetted in the tl'ansfer of, at least, $118,868.75 from the OS Account to the MS Account. 

55. By consistently executing trades between the DS and MS Accounts during 

periods of low volume, the Defendants sot1ght to pass, or as applicable, by allowing unauthorized 

access to the MS Account, aid~d and abetted the passage of, mon~y from the OS Account to the 

MS Account, thet·eby entering into tt·ansactions, or, as applicable, allowing transactions to be 

entered into through the MS Account, without the intent to take a genuine, bona fide position in 

the market. 
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B. Conclusions of Law 

1. Jurisdictimi and Venue 

56. This Comt has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 6c of the Act, as 

amended, 7 U.S.C. § 13aMI, which provides that whenever it shall appear to the Commission that 

any person has engaged, is engaging, or is about to engage in any act or practice constituting a 

violation of any provision of the Act or any rule, regulation, or order promulgated thereunder, the 

Commission may bring an action in the propei· district court of the United States against such 

person to enjoin such act or practice, ot• to enforce compliance with the Act, or any rule, 

t•egulation or ordet· thereunder. 

57. Venue properly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6c(e) of the Act, as 

amended, 7 U.S.C. § 13aMI(e), because Defendants are found in, inhabit, or transact business in 

this district, and the acts and practices in violation ofthe Act occurred within this Distl'ict. 

2. Deepalc Singhal Violated Section 4c(a)(2)(A)(ii) of the Act 

58. By the conduct described in paragraphs l tht·ough 57 above, Defendant Deepak 

Singhal repeatedly violated Section 4~(a)(2)(A)(ii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6c(a)(2)(A)(il) (2006), 

as amended, by entering into transactions that were fictitious sales involving the purchase or sale 

of an option on a commodity fot· future delivery which transactions were used or may have been 

used to hedge any transaction in interstate commerce in the commodity or the product or 

byproduct of the commodity; or to detetmine the price basis of any such transaction in interstate 

commerce in the commodity; or to deliver any such commodity sold, shipped, or received in 

interstate commerce for the execution of the transaction. 
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3. Meera Singhal Aided and Abetted Deepak Singhal's Violations of 
Section 4c(a)(2)(A)(ii) of the Act · 

59. By the conduct described in paragraphs 1 thi·ough 57 above, Defendant Mee!'a 

Singhal aided and abetted the violations of Section 4c(a)(2)(A)(ii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 

6c(a)(2)(A)(ii) (2006), as amended, by willfully allowing an unauthorized person, Deepak 

Singhal, to trade the MS Account, thet·eby assisting in the conduct that led to the violati~ns of 

that provision, in violation of Section 13(a) ofthe Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(a) {2006), as amended. 

4. Defendant Deepak Singhal Violated Regulationl.38(a) 

60. By the conduct described in paragt•aphs 1 through 57 above, Defendant Deepak 

Singhal violated Regulation 1.38(a), 17 C.P.R. § 1.38(a) (201 0), by engaging in a series of . . 

unlawful, non-competitive commodity options·transactions. 

5. Meera Singhal Aided and Abetted Deepalc Singhal's Violations of Regulation 1.38(a) 

61. By the conduct described in paragraphs I through 57 above, Defendant Meera 

Singhal aided and abetted the violation of Regulation 1.38(a), 17 C.P.R.§ 1.38(a) (201 0), by 

willfully allowing an unauthorized person, Deepak Singhal, to trade the MS Account, thereby 

assisting in the conduct that led to the violations of that provision, in violation of Section 13(a) of 

the Act, 7 U.S.C. §13c(a) (2006), as amended. Meera Singhal is therefore liable for Defendant 

Deepak Singhal's violations of Section 4c(a)(2)(A)(ii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6c(a)(2)(A)(ii) 

(2006)~ as amended, and Regulation 1.38(a), 17 C.P.R.§ 1.38(a) (2010). 

62. Unless t•estrained and enjoined by this Court, there is a reasonable likelihood that 

the Defendants will continue to engage in the acts and practices set forth in this Consent Order 

and in similar acts and practices in violation of the Act and Regulations. 
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IV. PERMANENT INJUNCTION 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: 

63. Based upon and in connection with the foregoing conduct, pursuant to Section 6c 

ofthe Act, as amended, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1, Defendants are permanently restrained, enjoined and 

prohibited from directly or indirectly: 

a. Entering into a tt·ansaction that is a fictitious sale involving the purchase or sale of 

any commodity fot· future delivery or any option on a commodity for future delivery which 

transaction was used or may have been used to hedge any transaction in interstate commerce in 

the commodity or the product or byproduct of the commodity; or to detetmine the price basis of 

any such transaction in interstate commerce in the commodity; or to deliver any such commodity 

sold, shipped, or received in interstate commerce for the execution of the transaction in violation 

of Section 4c(a)(2)(A)(ii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6c(a)(2)(A)(ii) (2006), as amended; 

b. Engaging in purchases and sales of any commodity for future delivery or of any 

commodity option, on or subject to the rules of a contract mai·ket, that are not executed openly 

and competitively, in violation of Regulation 1.38(a), 17 C.F.R. § 1.38(a) (201 0); 

c. Committing, or willfully aiding, abetting, counseling, commanding, inducing or 

procuring the commission of the foregoing violations of the Act and Regulations in violation of 

Section l3(a) ofthe Act, 7 U.S.C. §13c(a), as amended. 

64. Defendant Deepak Singhal is restrained, enjoined and prohibited, for a pet·iod of 5 

years, and Defendant Meera Singhal is restmined, enjoined and prohibited, for a period of2 

yeat·s, from directly or indirectly: 
. . 

a. Trading on or subject to the rules of any registered entity (as that term is defined 

In Section I a of the Act, as amended, 7 U.S.C. § la); 
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b. Entering into any transactions involving commodity futures, options on commodity 

futUl'es, commodity options (as that term is defined in Regulation 1.3 (hh), 17 C.P.R. 

§ 1.3(hh) (2012)) ("commodity options"), security futures products, and/or foreign 

currency (as described in Sections 2(c)(2)(B) and 2(c)(2)(C)(i) ofthe Act, as 

amended, 7 U.S.C. §§ 2(c)(2)(B) and 2(c)(2)(C)(i)) ("forex contracts") for their own 

personal account or for any account in which they have a direct ot' indirect interest; 

c. Having any commodity futures, options on commodity futures, commodity 

options, security futures products, and/or forex contracts traded on their behalf; 
•. 

d. Controlling ot· dh:ecting the trading for or on behalf of any other person or entity, 

whether by power of attorney OJ' otherwise, in any account involving commodity 

futures, options on commodity futures, commodity options, security futures 

products, and/or forex contt·acts; 

e. Soliciting, receiving or accepting any funds from any pet·son for the purpose of 

purchasing 01' selling any commodity futures, options on commodity futures, 

commodity options, secul'ity futures products, and/or forex contracts; 

f. Applying for t•egistt·ation or claiming exemption from registration with the 

Commission in any capacity, and engaging in any activity requiring such 

t•egistration or exemption ft·om registration with the Commission, except as 

provided for in Regulation 4.14(a)(9), 17 C.P.R.§ 4.14(a)(9) (2012); and/or 

g. Acting as a principal (as that term is defined in Regulation 3.1 (a), 17 C.P.R. 

§ 3.1 (a) (2012)), agent ot· any othet· officer or employee of any person (as that 

term is defined in Section 1 a of the Act, as amended, 7 U.S.C. § 1~) registered, 
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exempted from registration or requit·ed to be t•egistered with the Commission 

except as provided for in Regulation 4. 14(a)(9), 17 C.P.R. § 4. 14(a)(9) (2012). 

V. DISGORGEMENT AND CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY 

A. Civil Monetary Penalty 

65, .Defendant Deepak Singhal shall pay a civil monetary penalty in the amount of 

one hundt·ed forty thousand do11at•s ($140,000) ("CMP Obligation"), plus post-judgment 

Jnterest. Post--judgment interest shall a~crue on the CMP Obligation beginning on the date of 

entry of this Consent Order and shall be determined by using the Treasm·y Bill rate prevailing on 

the date of entry of this Consent Order pursuant to 28 U ,S.C. § 1961 (2006), 

66. Defendant Deepak Singhal shall pay the CMP Obligation by electronic funds 

transfer, U.S. postal money order, certified check, bank cashier's check, or bank money order. If 

payment is to be made other than by electt·onic funds transfer, then the' payment shall be made 

payable to the Commodity Futures Trading Commission and sent to the address below: 

Commodity Futures Trading Commission 
Division ofEnforcement 
ATI'N: Accounts Receivables- AMZ 340 
E-mail Box: 9-AMC-AMZ-AR-CFTC 
DOT/FAAIMMAC 
6500 S. MacAtthur Blvd. 
Oklahoma City, OK 73169 
Telephone: ( 405) 954-5644 

If payment by electronic funds transfer is chosen, Defendant Deepak Singhal shall contact Linda 

Zurhorst or her successor at the address above to receive payment instt·uctions and shall fully 

comply with those instructions, Defendant Deepak Singhal shall accompany payment of the 

CMP Obligation with a cover letter that identifies Defendants Deepak Singhal and Meera 

Singhal and the name and docket number ofthis proceeding. Defendant Deepak Singhal shall 

simultaneously transmit copies of the cover Jetter and the form of payment to the Chief Financial 

18 



Case: 1:12-cv-00138 Document #: 32 Filed: 11/28/12 Page 19 of 24 PageID #:373

Officet·, Commodity Futures Trading Commission, Three Lafayette Centre, 1155 21st Street, 

NW, Washington, D.C. 20581 and A. Daniel Ullman II, Commodity Futures Trading 

Commission, Three Lafayette Centre, 1155 21st Street, NW, Washington, p.c. 20581. 

B. Disgorgement 

67. Defendant Deepak Singhal shall pay disgorgement in the amount of one hundred 

eighteen, eight hundred sixty-eight dollars and seventy-five cents ($118,868.75) ("Disgot·gement 

Obligation"), plus post-judgment interest. Post-judgment interest shall accrue on the 

Disgorgement Obligation beginning on the date of entry ofthis Consent Ot·der and shall be 

determined by using the Treasury Bill rate prevailing on the date of entry of this Consent Order 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961 (2006). 

68. Defendant Deepak Singhal shall pay the Disgorgement Obligation by electronic 

funds transfer, U.S. postal money order, certified check, bank cashier's check, ot• bank money 

order. If payment is to be made other than by electronic funds transfer, ~hen the payment shall be 

made payable to the Commodity Futures Trading Commission and sent to the address below: 

Commodity Futures Trading Commission 
Division ofEnforcement 
ATTN: Accounts Receivables- AMZ 340 
E-mail Box: 9-AMC-AMZ-AR-CFTC 
DOT IF AA/MMAC 
6500 S. MacArthur Blvd. 
Oklahomt_l City, OK 73169 
Telephone: (405) 954-5644 

.If payment by electronic funds transfer is chosen, Defendant Deepak Singhal shall contact Linda 

Zurhorst or her successor at the address above to receive payment instructions and shall fully 

comply with those instructions. Defendant Deepak Singhal shall accompany payment of the 

Disgot•gement Obligation with a cover letter that identifies Defendants Deepak Singhal and 

Meera Singhal and the name and docket number of this proceeding. Defendant Deepak Singhal 
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shall simultaneously transmit copies of the cover letter and the form of payment to the Chief 

Financial Officer, Commodity Futut·es Trading Commission, Three Lafayette Centre, 1155 21st 

Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20581, and A. Daniel Ullman II, Commodity Futures Trading 

Commission, Three Lafayette Centre, 1155 21st Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20581. 

C. Provisions Related to Monetary Sanctions 

69. Pattial Satisfaction: Any acceptance by the Commission ofpartial payment of 

Defendant Deepak Singhal's Disgorgement Obligation or CMP Obligation shall not be deemed a 

waivet· of his obligation to make fut·thet· payments pursuant to this Consent Order, or a waiver of 

the Commission's !'ight to seek to compel payment of any remaining balance. 

D. Cooperation 

70. Defendants shall cooperate fully and expeditiously with the Commission, 

including the Commission's Division ofEnforcement, and any other governmental agency in this 

action, and in any investigation, civil litigation, or administrative matter related to the subject 

matter of this action or any current or future Commission investigation related thereto. 

VI. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

71. Notice: All notices t·equired to be given by any provision in this Consent Order 

shall be sent certified mail, return receipt requested, as follows: 

Notice to Commission: 

Attention - Director of Enforcement 
Commodity Futures Trading Commission 
Division of Enforcement 
1155 21st Stt·eet, N.W. 
Washington, DC 20581 
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Notice to Defendants Deepak Singhal and Meera Singhal: 

action. 

Attn: Andrew Piunti 
DPA Law Group 
1100 Lincoln Ave., Suite 231 
San Jose; CA 95125 
p: 888.915.5520 x7 

. f: 408.351.4444 

Counsel foi· Defendants 
Deepak Singhal and Meera Singhal 

All such notices to the Commission shall reference the name and docket number of this 

72. Change of Address/Phone: Until such time as Defendant Deepak Singhal satisfies 

in full the Disgorgement Obligation and CMP Obligation as set forth in this Consent Order, 

Defendants shall provide written notice to the Commission by certified mail of any change to 

their telephone number and mailing address within ten (1 0) calendar days of the change. 

73. Entire Agreement and Amendments: This Consent Order incorporates all of the 

terms and conditions of the settlement among the parties hereto to date. Nothing shall serve to 

a.~end or modify this Consent Order in any respect whatsoever, unless: (a) reduced to.writing; 

(b) signed by all patties hereto; and (c) appl'Oved by order of this Court. 

74. Invalidation: If any provision of this Consent Order or if the application of any 

provision or circumstance is held invalid, then the remainder of this Consent Ordet· and the 

application of the provision to any other person or circumstance shall not be affected by the 

holding. 

75. Waiver: The failure of any patty to this Consent Order at any time to requh·e 

performance of any pl'Dvision of this Consent Ot·der shall in no manner affect the right of the 

patty at a later time to enforce the same ot· any other provision of this Consent Order. No waivet' 

in one or more instances ofthe·breach ofany provision contained in this Consent Order shall be 
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deemed to be or construed as a further or continuing waiver of such breach or waiver of the 

breach of any other provision ofthis Consent Ot·der. 

76. Continuing Jurisdiction of this Court: This Court shallt•etain jurisdiction of this 

action to ensure compliance with this Consent Order and fot· all other purposes related to this 

action, including any motion by Defendants to modify or for relieffrom the terms of this 

Consent Order. 

77. Injunctive and Equitable ReliefProvisions: The injunctive and equitable relief 

provisions of this Consent Order shall be binding upon Defendants, upon any person under their 

authority ot· control, and upon any person who receives actual notice of this Consent Order, by 

personal service, e-mail, facsimile or otherwise insofar as he or she is acting in active concet1: or 

participation with Defendants. 

78. Counterparts and Facsimile Execution: This Consent Order may be executed in 

two ot· more counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall 

become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties hereto 

and delivet·ed (by facsimile, e-mail, or othetwise) to the other patty, it being understood that all 

parties need not sign the same counterpart. Any counterpat1: or other signatut·e to this Consent 

Order that is delivered by any means shall be deemed for all purposes as constituting good and 

valid execution and delivery by such party of this Consent Order. 

79, Defendants understand that the terms of the Consent Order are enforceable 

through contempt proceedings, and that, in any such proceedings they may not challenge the 

validity of this Consent Order. 
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80. The Court hereby directs the transfer of $118,868.75, held in Defendant Deepak 

Singhal's Citibank, N.A. Account Number *******7979, to the Commission in satisfaction of 

Deepak Singhal's Disgorgement Obligation set f01th in paragraphs 67 and 68. Citibank, N.A. 

shall comply with the directions for transfer of these funds provided by the Commission. 

Thereafter, the Coutt's February 21, 2012 Asset Freeze is hereby termjnated. 

There being no just reason for delay, the Clerk of the Court is hereby directed to enter 

this Consent Order for Permanent Injunction, Civil Monetary Penalty, and Other Equitable 

Relief Against Defendants Deepak Singhal and Me era Singhal. 

IT IS SO ORDERED on this ~z day of , 2012. 
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